



Promoting global health through clinical trial transparency

Prevent research waste and grand corruption

By Till Bruckner Series editor: Monica Kirya



Disclaimer

All views in this text are the author(s)', and may differ from the U4 partner agencies' policies.

Partner agencies

Australian Government - Department for Foreign Affairs and Trade - DFAT German Corporation for International Cooperation - GIZ German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development - BMZ Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Finland Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark / Danish International Development Assistance -Danida Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency - Sida Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation - SDC The Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation - Norad UK Aid - Department for International Development

About U4

U4 is a team of anti-corruption advisers working to share research and evidence to help international development actors get sustainable results. The work involves dialogue, publications, online training, workshops, helpdesk, and innovation. U4 is a permanent centre at the Chr. Michelsen Institute (CMI) in Norway. CMI is a non-profit, multi-disciplinary research institute with social scientists specialising in development studies. www.U4.no

U4@cmi.no

Cover photo

Ebola treatment centre in Guinea. UN Photo/Martine Perret (CC by-nc-nd) https://www.flickr.com/photos/un_photo/ 16549402800/in/album-72157648883015763/

Keywords

health sector - sustainable development goals

Publication type U4 Brief

Creative commons

This work is licenced under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International licence (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) The current lack of transparency in clinical trials threatens progress on the Sustainable Development Goals' health objectives. Unreported and misreported clinical trial outcomes result in the misallocation of public health funds, reduced pandemic preparedness, and a slowdown in the development of new vaccines, treatments and cures. Donors can strengthen trial transparency by promoting the adoption and implementation of the World Health Organization's best practices, rescuing unreported trial results from the global pile of research waste, and supporting transparency initiatives.

Main points

- Around half of clinical trial outcomes remain unreported, contributing to \$170 billion in medical research funding that goes to waste every year
- Existing laws and regulations are typically limited in scope, and compliance is insufficiently monitored and enforced
- Compared to the high cost of conducting clinical trials, the cost of making trial outcomes publicly available is minimal
- Promoting clinical trial transparency is a highly cost-effective way to support the achievement of Social Development Goal 3, access to effective and affordable medicines, and wider global health objectives

Table of contents

| Clinical trial opacity undermines global health | 1 |
|--|----|
| Failures to report trial results and evidence distortion are widespread | 2 |
| Weak legal and regulatory frameworks exacerbate opacity | 5 |
| Global consequences of clinical trial opacity | 6 |
| Impacts on public health in the Global South | 7 |
| Threat to targets set out by Social Development Goal 3 | 7 |
| Practical steps to end evidence distortion in medical research | 8 |
| Donor options for promoting clinical trial transparency among funding partners | 9 |
| Rescuing clinical trial results from the global pile of research waste | 10 |
| Technical assistance for strengthening clinical trial governance in the Global South | 11 |
| Supporting research and advocacy on clinical trial transparency | 12 |
| References | 14 |

About the author

Till Bruckner

Till Bruckner is the founder of TranspariMED¹, an initiative that works to end evidence distortion in medicine. He previously worked for the AllTrials campaign, Transparency International Georgia, and in international development and development finance. He remains active with Transparify², an initiative to promote transparency and integrity in policy research and advocacy. Till holds a PhD in political science from the University of Bristol, U.K.

Clinical trial opacity undermines global health

Clinical trials are a key driver of medical innovation and progress, but the existing evidence base on drugs and vaccines is incomplete and systematically biased due to the opacity of clinical trials. This may have a substantial negative effect on global health, and directly threatens progress on seven of the targets set out by Social Development Goal 3.

US\$ 85 billion out of the US\$ 170 billion spent on health research globally every year goes to waste because research results are not reported.³ Incomplete, inaccurate, misleading and slow reporting of results causes funders and scientists to repeatedly explore the same dead ends, which drives up the time and cost required to develop new vaccines, treatments and cures.

In addition, the opaqueness of clinical trials creates a strong information asymmetry between those generating trial data, who often have strong vested financial or career interests in presenting positive results, and the public and private purchasers of drugs, devices and treatments. This lack of transparency creates an environment in which selective reporting, evidence distortion, and outright fraud are difficult to detect and deter, opening the door to corrupt practices.⁴

Because the evidence base underlying medicine is fragmentary and distorted, global health bodies, donors and health agencies, including those in the Global South, cannot reliably determine the comparative cost-effectiveness of different treatment options. This leads to suboptimal allocation of scarce public health funds, undermines pandemic preparedness, and directly harms individual patients.

Out of US\$170 billion total annual research waste, fully half (US\$ 85 billion) is due to non-reporting of results. Glasziou, P. and Chalmers, I. 2016. Is 85% of health research really "wasted"?, The BMJ.
 Pharmaceutical companies have repeatedly been prosecuted for withholding drug safety and efficacy data from clinical trials. For example, a US\$ 3 billion settlement reached in the United States in 2012 was partially related to the concealment of trial data on the drug Avandia and resulting patient deaths. For a detailed account, see Bruckner T and Ellis, B. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a key to better and safer medicines.

This policy brief provides an overview of the issue, based on a more extensive study published by Transparency International, Cochrane, CRIT and TranspariMED in 2017.⁵ In addition, it outlines simple and cost-effective steps that donors can take to curb research waste, accelerate medical progress, and improve public health in the Global South.

Failures to report trial results and evidence distortion are widespread

There is a vast literature documenting the large scope and scale of evidence distortion in medical research.⁶ Around half of clinical trials never report their results.⁷ Because trials with positive outcomes are far more likely to report their results, the current evidence base systematically overestimates the efficacy of drugs and underestimates their harms.⁸⁹

In addition, trials with negative outcomes are often misreported as having positive outcomes. Such evidence distortion is widespread and takes many forms, including spin, statistical manipulation, and selective reporting of partial results. For example, in 2015–2016, a team of researchers found that only nine trials out of a cohort of 67 published in the world's top five medical journals had been accurately reported.¹⁰

6. An accessible overview of the issues discussed here and of the relevant literature is provided by Transparency International et al. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a guide for policy makers (http://www.transparency.org.uk/publications/clinical-trial-transparency/) and Goldacre, B. 2012. Bad Pharma: How drug companies mislead doctors and harm patients, 4th Estate (http://www.4thestate.co.uk/book/bad-pharma-how-medicine-is-broken-and-how-we-can-fix-it-epub-edition/).

7. AllTrials. No date. How many clinical trials are left unpublished?

^{5.} Transparency International et al. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a guide for policy makers.

^{8.} Dwan, K. et al. 2013. Systematic review of the empirical evidence of study publication bias and outcome reporting bias — an updated review, PLOS One. http://journals.plos.org/plosone/ article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0066844

^{9.} Golder, S.et al. 2016. Reporting of adverse events in published and unpublished studies of health care interventions: a systematic review, PLOS Medicine. http://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/ article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1002127

^{10.} Goldacre, B. et al. 2016. The Centre for Evidence Based Medicine outcome monitoring project (COMPare) protocol, CEBM, University of Oxford.

The chart below, based on a widely cited analysis of a cohort of 74 clinical trials of antidepressant drugs,¹¹ illustrates how non-publication and evidence distortion can combine to create a severely misleading picture of the effectiveness of drugs. All but one of the 38 positive clinical trials were published. Of the 36 negative trials, 22 remained unpublished, and a further 11 were misleadingly published as having had positive outcomes. As a result, the scientific literature suggested that only three clinical trials of these drugs had negative outcomes.

Importantly, these problems are not limited to clinical trials funded or run by pharmaceutical companies. In fact, numerous studies show that trials funded or run by public health bodies, universities and the third sector are even less likely to report their results.¹²¹³ Evidence distortion too is widespread beyond industry due to a combination of perverse incentives, weak institutional oversight and a lack of effective deterrents.

^{11.} Turner, E. H. et al. 2008. Selective publication of antidepressant trials and its influence on apparent efficacy, New England Journal of Medicine.

^{12.} Anderson, M. 2015. Compliance with results reporting at ClinicalTrials.gov, New England Journal of Medicine. http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMsa1409364

^{13.} Goldacre, B. 2018. FDAAA Trials Tracker. https://fdaaa.trialstracker.net/rankings/

How non-reporting and evidence distortion create a misleading picture of drug efficacy

An analysis of 74 clinical trials of antidepressant drugs illustrates how non-publication and evidence distortion can combine to create a severely misleading picture of the effectiveness of drugs.

Actual results

The 74 trials are split almost evenly between positive and negative results.





Distorted results

All but one of the 38 positive trials were published. Of the 36 negative trials, 22 remained unpublished, and a further 11 were misleadingly published as having had positive outcomes.



Results found in scientific literature

As a result, the scientific literature suggests that only three clinical trials of these drugs had negative outcomes.





🖁 З

 Positive clinical trial
 Image: Clinical trial
 Image: Clinical trial published as positive

 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished

 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished

 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished

 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished
 Image: Clinical trial unpublished

Source: Chart based on the findings of Turner et al. (2008).

Weak legal and regulatory frameworks exacerbate opacity

The medical research sector's inability to self-regulate is exacerbated by a lack of state action. The United Nations,¹⁴ the World Health Organization (WHO)¹⁵ and other stakeholders¹⁶ have repeatedly called for greater clinical trial transparency. However, governments worldwide have so far failed to ensure that the results of all trials are promptly and accurately reported. In the United States, over 40% of applicable trials are in violation of a 2007 transparency law, but \$670 million in fines remain uncollected.¹⁷ In the Europe, 49% of applicable trials violate European Union disclosure regulations,¹⁸ but no sanctions have ever been imposed. Even in wealthy nations, laws and regulations are typically limited in scope, and compliance is insufficiently monitored and enforced. At the same time, Clinical Study Reports, documents held by regulatory agencies that contain the most detailed information on the safety and efficacy of drugs on the market, are often not shared with other public bodies and independent scientists.¹⁹

^{14.} United Nations. 2016. Report of the United Nations Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on Access to Medicines.

^{15.} WHO. 2015. WHO statement on public disclosure of clinical trial results.

^{16.} Nather, D. and Piller, C. 2016. Biden threatens funding cuts for researchers who fail to report clinical trial results, STAT News.

^{17.} EBM Data Lab. 2018. FDAAA Trails Tracker. https://fdaaa.trialstracker.net/ Data accurate as of 20 September 2018)

^{18.} EBM Data Lab. 2018. EU Trails Tracker. http://eu.trialstracker.net/ (Data accurate as of 20 September 2018)

^{19.} Transparency International et al. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a guide for policy makers.

Global consequences of clinical trial opacity

The current lack of access to complete, unbiased and undistorted evidence of the benefits and harms of drugs, medical devices and treatments harms patients, prevents public health agencies from making informed decisions, and wastes public health funds. The negative consequences of weak trial transparency are well-documented in developed countries. For example, an estimated 100,000 patients died in the U.S. alone because trial results that could have alerted doctors to the risks of the heart drug Lorcainide remained unpublished. In the UK, the National Health Service spent 0.5% of its entire 2009 budget on the drug Tamiflu based on limited evidence; after previously hidden trial results came to light, many scientists concluded that the drug was ineffective. In total, 96 countries had stockpiled enough of the drug to treat 350 million people.²⁰ A 2015 study of 300 clinical trials showed that only 11% of publications in scientific journals provided a complete and consistent account of all the serious adverse events experienced by patients.²¹

^{20.} The cases of Lorcainide and Tamiflu are discussed at length in Bruckner, T., and Ellis, B. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a key to better and safer medicines.

^{21.} Tang, E. et al. 2015. Comparison of serious adverse events posted at ClinicalTrials.gov and published in corresponding journal articles, BMCMedicine.

Impacts on public health in the Global South

The problem of unreliable evidence affects medical research and clinical practice across all disease areas and regions, including on health issues of particular concern to the Global South. For example, at the outset of the 2014 Ebola outbreak in West Africa, scientists discovered that potentially life-saving information from past clinical trials was missing. This led to major inefficiencies in testing for Ebola therapeutics. A 2017 review of Ebola trials on the world's largest trial registry Clinicaltrials.gov found that not a single one had posted its summary results there, despite 30 trials having already exceeded the 12 month disclosure timeframe set by the WHO.²² In some cases, the results of these trials had not been published in the academic literature either and therefore remained inaccessible to the scientific community.

Threat to targets set out by Social Development Goal 3

The level of transparency of clinical trials will directly affect the extent to which seven out of the 13 health targets set out under Social Development Goal 3 will be achieved. Most obviously, the non-reporting of trials undermines Target 3 (ending the epidemics of AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria by 2030) and Target 11 (supporting the research and development of vaccines and medicines). In addition, as long as the evidence base of medicine remains severely distorted, Target 9 (access to safe and effective medicines and vaccines) will be difficult to achieve because public health agencies are currently unable to reliably evaluate the safety and effectiveness of drugs. This, combined with the overall slower pace of scientific progress, will also hinder the achievement of Targets 1, 2, 4, and 5.

^{22.} Bruckner, T. 2017. Where's the data? Missing trial results undermine pandemic preparedness, Devex.

Practical steps to end evidence distortion in medical research

A coalition of health integrity groups led by Transparency International recommended in 2017 that:

"As a first step, political decision-makers should require all public research funding bodies within their jurisdiction to adopt and expand on the provisions of the recent WHO-brokered 'Joint Statement' by research funders, and ensure that they are fully implemented. In future, to help ensure that public funding for medical research actually benefits the public, government funders should only give taxpayers' money to institutions and individuals that verifiably comply with best practices in clinical research. Taking this simple first step would deliver significant transparency gains at minimal cost."²³

Signing up to the 2017 Joint Statement commits clinical trial stakeholders to ensuring that all clinical trials they fund, co-fund, sponsor or support adhere to global best practices in clinical trial transparency.²⁴ These include prospective trial registration, the posting of summary results on registries within 12 months of trial completion, monitoring of grantee compliance, and the publication of monitoring reports. As the Joint Statement itself emphasises, "[t]he resource allocation, public health and scientific benefits – together with the need to meet ethical imperatives – far outweigh the costs" of the proposed monitoring mechanisms.

Stakeholders who fund clinical trials commit to global best practice in clinical trial transparency by signing the 2017 Joint Statement.

^{23.} Transparency International et al. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a guide for policy makers.

^{24.} WHO. 2017. Joint statement on public disclosure of results from clinical trials.

While joining the initiative is voluntary, its commitments are specific and timebound, and compliance is externally verifiable, prompting a variety of stakeholders to strongly welcome it.²⁵²⁶ However, a year after the Joint Statement was published, a policy audit found that signatories' implementation of its provisions had been uneven.²⁷

Donor options for promoting clinical trial transparency among funding partners

In May 2017, the UK's Department for International Development (DFID) became the first bilateral donor agency to sign up to the Joint Statement. Several organisations that receive international development funding, including Médecins Sans Frontières, the TB Alliance, and Medicines for Malaria Venture have also signed up.

Other bilateral donors could promote clinical trial transparency by following the lead of DFID, sign up to the Joint Statement, and fully implement its provisions. In addition, donors could require all grantee institutions involved in funding or conducting clinical trials, including universities at home and abroad, to sign up to the Joint Statement and publish the stipulated annual monitoring reports as a precondition for receiving future grants. In addition to strengthening the global evidence base on drugs and vaccines and accelerating medical progress, this would mitigate the fiduciary risk of taxpayers' money contributing to the US\$ 85 billion in research waste generated annually through the non-reporting of medical research results.

Furthermore, donor agencies could encourage public research funders within their home countries to sign up to the Joint Statement. The largest public

25. AllTrials. 2017. "No more excuses" as major global research funders take strong lead on clinical trial transparency. http://www.alltrials.net/news/funders-agree-to-who-standards/

27. EBM Data Lab. 2018. WHO Audit DataFrame - Original Coding. (Paper forthcoming). https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1ywEVIHd0jugKk0hfqT_-Erj8qehx2FIb1Jn0Jnb_p8Y/edit#gid=1064345644

^{26.} Bruckner, T. 2017. Grantees, reveal thy findings: A push by funders for transparency in medical research, Inside Philanthropy. https://www.insidephilanthropy.com/home/2017/7/28/transparency-clinical-trials-gates-wellcome

research funding institutions in Australia, Canada, China, Germany, Italy, Japan, Spain and the United States have yet to sign up.

Rescuing clinical trial results from the global pile of research waste

Clinical trials typically cost several million dollars to set up and run. In contrast, posting their summary results onto registries costs only around \$2,000;²⁸ the cost of publishing their results in academic journals is similarly low. Donors could fund systematic efforts to retrospectively publish the results of clinical trials concluded in the past that have failed to report their results. The medical knowledge generated by these trials will be lost forever unless their results are rescued soon, before the researchers involved retire and the underlying datasets disappear.

For example, donors could commission a review of all completed clinical trials of Neglected Tropical Diseases that have not posted summary results onto trial registries to identify those that have also failed to publish their results in the academic literature. Donors could then fund research institutions or medical writing companies to rescue these 'lost' trials by retrospectively posting their summary results onto trial registries and publishing their outcomes in medical journals. While the data generated by some of these trials will already have been irretrievably lost, experience shows that rescuing 'lost' trials is practically feasible.²⁹

Retrospectively publishing the results of unreported clinical trials would be an extremely cost-effective global health intervention.

^{28.} Hoffmann, T. 2017. Focus on sharing individual patient data distracts from other ways of improving trial transparency, The BMJ.

^{29.} The BMJ. 2014. The CEA second-look trial: a randomised controlled trial of carcinoembryonic antigen prompted reoperation for recurrent colorectal cancer, BMJ Blogs.

As the cost of making trial outcomes publicly available is minimal compared to the original cost of conducting the trials themselves, this would be an extremely cost-effective global health intervention.

Technical assistance for strengthening clinical trial governance in the Global South

A growing number of clinical trials are being conducted in countries of the Global South whose legal and regulatory frameworks pertaining to trial transparency may be even weaker than those in donor nations. Donors could provide technical assistance to Ministries of Health in partner countries to enable them to strengthen those frameworks and effectively monitor and enforce compliance. Transparency International has recently set out transparency benchmarks to guide the development of sound clinical trial governance systems.³⁰

In addition, donors could assist public research agencies in the Global South in implementing the provisions of the Joint Statement, as the Indian Council of Medical Research has already started to do. Donors could provide technical assistance to other agencies in major developing countries in the setup of appropriate monitoring systems and facilitate peer-to-peer knowledge exchanges.

^{30.} Transparency International et al. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a guide for policy makers.

Supporting research and advocacy on clinical trial transparency

Over 700 professional medical associations, patient groups and other civil society actors have formally expressed their support for clinical trial transparency by signing up to the principles of the global AllTrials campaign.³¹ Donors could help CSOs and patient groups to turn this passive support for more transparency into effective advocacy by supporting the replication of successful approaches.³²

The experiences of recent transparency initiatives strongly suggest that making institutional performance visible in and of itself can incentivise significant improvements at that level. For example, a widely noted³³ investigation by the medical news outlet STAT News in 2015 analysed Clinicaltrials.gov data and revealed that commercial companies, universities and even government agencies were "routinely violating" a key U.S. trial transparency law.³⁴ In 2018, a follow-up investigation found that many of the institutions highlighted as the worst performers three years earlier had taken the biggest steps to improve their performance.³⁵ Recent transparency initiatives by EBM Data Lab and TranspariMED have similarly yielded tangible results.³⁶

^{31.} AllTrials website. No date. List of supporting organisations.

^{32.} Two transparency tools developed by EMB Data Lab in 2018 facilitate advocacy efforts. These two online 'trials trackers' automatically flag trials that violate existing US (https://fdaaa.trialstracker.net/) and European Union (http://eu.trialstracker.net/) disclosure rules. Universities Allied for Essential Medicines and TranspariMED are jointly developing another transparency tool. STAT News have already made their 2015 and 2018 data sets publicly available.

^{33.} Nather, P and Piller, C. 2015. Biden threatens funding cuts for researchers who fail to report clinical trial results, STAT News.

^{34.} Piller, C. 2015. Failure to report: A STAT investigation of clinical trials reporting, STAT and Piller, C.2016. Leading research entities routinely and flagrantly ignored their obligations to report trial results, Interview with AllTrials.

^{35.} Piller, C. and Bronshtein, T. 2018. Faced with public pressure, research institutions step up reporting of clinical trial results, STAT.

^{36.} Miseta, E. 2018. Can "trial shaming" force companies to report results? Clinical Leader; Goldacre, B.2018. Our FDAAA TrialsTracker is already helping to get new trials reported, EBM Data Lab blog;

TranspariMED. 2017. Aberdeen Uni Pledges Audit of Clinical Trials Transparency Performance;

TranspariMED. 2017. Bristol University pledges clinical trial registry cleanup.

Making institutional performance visible and challenging institutions to post missing trial results has yielded tangible results.

While past efforts have focused on the institutional level only, there is also considerable scope for research and advocacy focused on specific disease areas, especially Neglected Tropical Diseases,³⁷ and for efforts that compare transparency performance at the national level. Research indicates that the impact of such initiatives could be strengthened by coupling them with direct outreach to the parties responsible for reporting the results of specific trials.³⁸

In addition, donors could support think tanks in conducting policy research and advocacy around relevant legal and regulatory frameworks,³⁹ and in integrating clinical trial transparency concerns into mainstream global and national health policy debates.

^{37.} The numbers of clinical trials relevant to many disease areas are so small (<100) that the data can be compiled manually, obviating the need for specialist IT skills. EBM Data Lab is currently working on two such disease-specific manual 'trackers', which will provide useful templates for replication.

^{38.} Maruani, A. et al. 2014.Impact of sending email reminders of the legal requirement for posting results on ClinicalTrials.gov: cohort embedded pragmatic randomized controlled trial, The BMJ.

^{39.} The Collaboration for Research Integrity and Transparency (CRIT) at Yale Law School provides an interesting model for national-level research on clinical trial laws, regulations and policies.

References

AllTrials website. No date. List of supporting organisations. http://www.alltrials.net/supporters/supporters-organisation-list/.

AllTrials. No date. How many clinical trials are left unpublished?. http://www.alltrials.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/AllTrials-briefing-dochow-many-clinical-trials-unreported.pdf

AllTrials. 2017. "No more excuses" as major global research funders take strong lead on clinical trial transparency. http://www.alltrials.net/news/funders-agree-to-who-standards/.

Anderson, M. 2015. Compliance with results reporting at ClinicalTrials.gov. http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMsa1409364, New England Journal of Medicine.

Bruckner, T. 2017. Grantees, reveal thy findings: A push by funders for transparency in medical research. https://www.insidephilanthropy.com/home/2017/7/28/transparency-clinical-trials-gates-wellcome, Inside Philanthropy.

Bruckner, T. 2017. Where's the data? Missing trial results undermine pandemic preparedness. https://www.devex.com/news/opinion-where-s-the-data-missing-trial-results-undermine-pandemic-preparedness-91162, Devex.

Bruckner T., and Ellis, B. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a key to better and safer medicines. https://media.wix.com/ugd/ 01f35d_0f2955eb88e34c02b82d886c528efeb4.pdf.

Dwan, K. et al. 2013. Systematic review of the empirical evidence of study publication bias and outcome reporting bias — an updated review. http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0066844, PLOS One.

EBM Data Lab. 2018. WHO Audit DataFrame - Original Coding. https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1ywEV1Hd0jugKk0hfqT_-Erj8qehx2FIb1Jn0Jnb_p8Y/edit#gid=1064345644. (Paper forthcoming).

Glasziou, P., and Chalmers, I. 2016. Is 85% of health research really "wasted"?. http://blogs.bmj.com/bmj/2016/01/14/paul-glasziou-and-iain-chalmers-is-85-of-health-research-really-wasted/, The BMJ.

Goldacre, B. 2018. Our FDAAA TrialsTracker is already helping to get new trials reported. https://fdaaa.trialstracker.net/rankings/, EBM Data Lab blog.

Goldacre, B. 2012. Bad Pharma: How drug companies mislead doctors and harm patients, 4th Estate

Goldacre, B. et al. 2016. The Centre for Evidence Based Medicine outcome monitoring project (COMPare) protocol. http://compare-trials.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/01/COMPare-Protocol-18.5.2016.pdf, CEBM, University of Oxford.

Goldacre, B. 2018. FDAAA Trials Tracker.

Golder, S. et al. 2016. Reporting of adverse events in published and unpublished studies of health care interventions: a systematic review. http://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1002127, PLOS Medicine.

Hoffmann, T. 2017. Focus on sharing individual patient data distracts from other ways of improving trial transparency. http://www.bmj.com/content/357/bmj.j2782.full, The BMJ.

Maruani, A. et al. 2014.Impact of sending email reminders of the legal requirement for posting results on ClinicalTrials.gov: cohort embedded pragmatic randomized controlled trial,. http://www.bmj.com/content/349/bmj.g5579The BMJ.

Miseta, E. 2018. Can "trial shaming" force companies to report results?. https://www.clinicalleader.com/doc/can-trial-shaming-force-companies-to-report-results-0001 Clinical Leader.

Nather, D. and Piller, C. 2016. Biden threatens funding cuts for researchers who fail to report clinical trial results. https://www.statnews.com/2016/06/29/biden-clinical-trials-cancer/, STAT News.

Piller, C. 2015. Failure to report: A STAT investigation of clinical trials reporting. https://www.statnews.com/2015/12/13/clinical-trials-investigation/, STAT.

Piller, C. 2016. Leading research entities routinely and flagrantly ignored their obligations to report trial results. http://www.alltrials.net/news/fdaaa-enforcement-clinical-trials-fda-nih/, Interview with AllTrials.

Piller, C. and Bronshtein, T. 2018. Faced with public pressure, research institutions step up reporting of clinical trial results. https://www.statnews.com/2018/01/09/clinical-trials-reporting-nih/, STAT.

Tang, E. et al. 2015. Comparison of serious adverse events posted at ClinicalTrials.gov and published in corresponding journal articles. https://bmcmedicine.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12916-015-0430-4, BMCMedicine.

The BMJ. 2014. The CEA second-look trial: a randomised controlled trial of carcinoembryonic antigen prompted reoperation for recurrent colorectal cancer. http://blogs.bmj.com/bmjopen/2014/05/13/the-cea-second-look-trial-a-randomised-controlled-trial-of-carcinoembryonic-antigen-prompted-reoperation-for-recurrent-colorectal-cancer/, BMJ Blogs.

Transparency International et al. 2017. Clinical trial transparency: a guide for policy makers. https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/ 01f35d_def0082121a648529220e1d56df4b50a.pdf.

TranspariMED. 2017. Aberdeen Uni Pledges Audit of Clinical Trials Transparency Performance. https://www.transparimed.org/single-post/2017/05/ 21/Aberdeen-Uni-Pledges-Audit-of-Clinical-Trials-Transparency-Performance.

TranspariMED. 2017. Bristol University pledges clinical trial registry cleanup. https://www.transparimed.org/single-post/2017/07/22/Bristol-University-pledges-clinical-trial-registry-cleanup.

Turner, E. H. et al. 2008. Selective publication of antidepressant trials and its influence on apparent efficacy. http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/ NEJMsa065779, New England Journal of Medicine.

United Nations. 2016. Report of the United Nations Secretary-General's highlevel panel on access to medicines. http://www.politico.eu/wp-content/uploads/ 2016/09/HLP-Report-FINAL-Sept-2016.pdf.

WHO. 2015. WHO statement on public disclosure of clinical trial results. http://www.who.int/ictrp/results/reporting/en/.